CITY OF BOSTON Citizen Participation Plan May 2025



Michelle Wu, Mayor

Sheila A. Dillon, Chief of Housing and Director, Mayor's Office of Housing

CITY OF BOSTON MAYOR'S OFFICE OF HOUSING

Citizen Participation Plan — May 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN REQUIREMENTS	4
PART A - DEVELOPMENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED PLAN AND ANNUAL ACTION PLAN	6
PART B - PUBLIC NOTICES AND COMMENTS ON THE CONSOLIDATED PLAN, ANNUAL ACTION PLAN, SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENTS AND CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL PERFORMANCE AND EVALUATION REPORT (CAPER)	8
PART C - SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENTS	9
PART D - CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL PERFORMANCE AND EVALUATION REPORTS (CAPER)	10
PART E - PUBLIC HEARINGS	11
PART F - ACCESS TO RECORDS	11
PART G - TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE	12
PART H - COMPLAINTS	12
PART I - LANGUAGE AND COMMUNICATIONS ACCESS FOR CITY SERVICES	12
PART J - MINIMIZING DISPLACEMENT	13
CITIZEN PARTICIPATION STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS	14
ADDENDUM A - PUBLIC COMMENTS	15

MAY 2025

THE CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN WAS AMENDED TO:

- a) add language that references the HUD Section 108 Loan Guarantee Program.
- b) remove reference to the Affirmatively Fair Housing (AFFH) rule that was terminated by HUD effective March 31, 2025.
- c) restore flexibilities for the Citizen Participation Public Comment Period for Consolidated Plan Amendments granted under the CARES Act.
- d) update website links and to add a table summarizing the citizen participation statutory requirements.

The May 2025 amendments to this Citizen Participation Plan are in **BLUE** font.

INTRODUCTION

The City of Boston receives annual allocations from the **Community Planning and Development Office (CPD) of the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)** for four grant programs:

- Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
- HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME)
- Housing Options for Persons with AIDS (HOPWA)
- Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG)

These grants funds are managed and administered by the **Mayor's Office of Housing (MOH)** with the primary purpose of developing viable communities by promoting integrated approaches that provide decent housing, a suitable living environment, and expand economic opportunities for low- and moderate-income persons.

In addition, and from time to time, the City of Boston may also apply for and receive HUD Section 108 Loan Guarantee funding to undertake larger housing, economic development, community development, and public facility initiatives.

As the recipient of the HUD/CPD grant funds, the City of Boston is required to produce the following documents:

• **Consolidated Plan:** a five-year plan that documents the City's housing and community development needs, outlines strategies to address those needs, and identifies proposed program accomplishments with the HUD/CPD grants;

- Annual Action Plan: an annual plan that describes specific projects and activities funded with HUD/CPD grants that will be undertaken over the course of the upcoming program year
- Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER): an annual report that evaluates the use of HUD/CPD funds.

The Citizen Participation Plan has been developed to provide residents, community organizations, policymakers, and other interested parties the opportunity to learn about and participate in the planning, allocation and evaluation of the HUD/CPD funded programs; and, to review and comment on each of the planning documents described above. The efforts detailed in this Citizen Participation Plan strive to give all residents an opportunity to:

- Review and provide feedback on the City's Consolidated Plan and Annual Action Plan, and eligible activities under the HUD programs;
- Identify and respond to priority needs;
- Identify and respond to proposed projects and the use of funds; and
- Review and comment on program performance.

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION PLAN REQUIREMENTS

Pursuant to the requirements of 24 CFR 91.105 and 24 CFR Part 5.158, the City of Boston hereby issues the following plan to provide for and encourage citizens to participate in the development of the City of Boston's Consolidated Plan, including substantial amendments, development or amendment of the Annual Action Plan, and the Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report. This plan amends and supersedes the City's existing Citizen Participation Plan, adopted in compliance with Section 104(a)(3) of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974.

The City of Boston is required to adhere to this Citizen Participation Plan as the official mechanism for obtaining citizen input into the Consolidated Plan and Annual Action Plan process and during the administration of the programs covered by this Plan.

The goals of the Citizen Participation Plan are to encourage participation from the following populations:

- low-and moderate-income residents,
- people living in low-to-moderate income neighborhoods and any slum and blighted areas,
- persons with disabilities,
- communities of Black, Indigenous and People of Color (BIPOC),

- residents of HUD-assisted housing, including: resident advisory boards, resident councils and resident management companies,
- those living with HIV/AIDS,
- current or formerly homeless individuals and families,
- local and regional stakeholders, including the Continuum of Care* (CoC), businesses, developers, nonprofit organizations, philanthropic organizations, and community-based and faith-based organizations.

The City of Boston assures all residents that by adhering to the stated goals, residents will have the opportunity to learn about and participate in the planning, allocation, and evaluation of the Consolidated Plan, Annual Action Plan, and Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report.

PART A - DEVELOPMENT OF THE CONSOLIDATED PLAN AND ANNUAL ACTION PLAN

Boston will consult with public and private agencies, and with subject matter expertise in the categories listed below as part of the development of the Consolidated Plan and annual Action Plan.

- Public and private agencies that provide assisted housing
- Health services
- Social services, including those focusing on services to children, elderly persons, persons with disabilities, persons with HIV/AIDS and their families, homeless persons, and other protected populations
- Community-based and regionally-based organizations that represent protected class members
- Organizations that enforce fair housing laws
- Continuum of Care
- Public and private agencies that address housing, health, nutrition, social services, victim services, employment, or education needs of:
 - o low-income individuals and families
 - o homeless individuals and families, including veterans, youth and persons with special needs
- Publicly funded institutions and systems of care that may discharge persons into homelessness, such as:
 - o healthcare facilities

^{*}A Continuum of Care (CoC) is a regional or local planning body that coordinates housing and services funding from HUD for homeless families and individuals. Boston's CoC is coordinated by the Mayor's Office of Housing.

- o mental health facilities
- o foster care and other youth facilities
- o corrections programs and institutions
- Business and civic leaders
- State and local health and child welfare agencies, including agencies that track housing units in which children have been identified as lead-poisoned
- Adjacent units of local government and regional governmental agencies, particularly agencies with metropolitan-wide planning and transportation responsibilities that go beyond a single jurisdiction, such as the Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC)
- Boston Housing Authority
- Broadband internet service providers
- Organizations engaged in narrowing the digital divide
- Agencies whose primary responsibilities include the management of flood-prone areas, public land or water resources
- Emergency management agencies

The City of Boston encourages the participation of representatives of underserved populations including socioeconomically disadvantaged people, people of color, women and children, people with limited English proficiency, people with disabilities (including physical, hearing or visual impairment, behavioral health concerns, or learning disabilities), public housing residents, residents of predominantly low to moderate income areas (as defined by the Census), in areas designated by the jurisdiction as a revitalization area, or in a slum and blighted area, and in areas where HUD funds are proposed to be used. Specific accommodations will be made for any participating citizen so as not to limit their involvement as detailed in Part I: Language and Communications Access for City Services.

At least 30-days prior to adopting a Consolidated Plan or an annual Action Plan, the City of Boston will make available to residents, community organizations, policymakers, and other interested parties a draft of these Plans. As soon as feasible after the start of the public participation process the City will make the HUD-provided data and any other supplemental information the City intends to incorporate into its Plan(s) available to residents, public agencies and other interested parties. The data will be posted on MOH's website: www.boston.gov/departments/housing/grants-management

The draft Plan(s) will include information on the amount of assistance Boston expects to receive (including grant funds and program income) from the HUD/CPD programs. The Plans will also include descriptions of each program that the City plans to undertake with the HUD/CPD funds, the estimated amount of funds that will benefit low- and moderate-income persons and plans to minimize displacement of residents.

The City will consider any comments or views of citizens received in writing, by email, orally at the public hearings or by phone call. At the conclusion of the public comment period, the City will prepare a summary of all comments received, those comments accepted, those comments not accepted, and the reasons any comments were not accepted. Consideration of and response to any comments received will be described in the City's final submission to HUD.

It is anticipated that the draft Consolidated Plan and/or Action Plan will be issued for public comment on or about the second week of April of each year and the plans shall be adopted and submitted to HUD no later than the 15th of May of each year unless otherwise extended by a HUD Notice or a HUD granted time extension.

After HUD approves the Consolidated Plan and/or annual Action Plan, the City will make the document available to the public by posting the final Consolidated Plan or Action Plan on the MOH website: www.boston.gov/departments/housing/grants-management. The City will provide the Consolidated Plan and Fair Housing Strategies to the Boston Housing Authority so that the Public Housing Authority (PHA) can make this information available at their annual public hearing required for the PHA plan.

PART B - PUBLIC NOTICES AND COMMENTS ON THE CONSOLIDATED PLAN, ANNUAL ACTION PLAN, SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENTS AND CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL PERFORMANCE AND EVALUATION REPORT (CAPER)

- The City will publish a notice of the opportunity for public comment on the draft
 Plans and Reports on the MOH website:
 https://www.boston.gov/departments/housing/hearings-and-public-comment
- 2. MOH will also post these documents on the website in a format available for citizens to examine or download. Citizens will be provided with a 30-day period to comment on the Plans, a 15-day period on the CAPER and an expedited period of no less than 5-days for CARES Act funds awarded under the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV) program.

Comments on the Consolidated Plan, Annual Action Plan, Substantial Amendment and CAPER must be submitted to the Mayor's Office of Housing via email mohcomments@boston.gov, by calling 617-635-0363 or by mail to City of Boston,

- Mayor's Office of Housing, Attn: Grants Management, 12 Channel Street 9th Floor, Boston, MA 02210.
- 3. The City will establish and maintain a Mayor's Office of Housing (MOH) email list of residents, community organizations, policymakers, and other interested parties for the purpose of providing notice of the issuance of such Plans or of any public hearings related to the development of the Plans. The City will send electronic notice of any such issuance to this email list not less than 14 days prior to public hearings; and, on the day that the Plan is issued for public comment and available on the Department's website. The link to sign up for the MOH listserv is posted here: https://www.boston.gov/departments/housing#stay-connected
- 4. The City will follow a plan to reach out to low-and moderate-income residents, residents with limited English proficiency and persons with disabilities. Efforts include sharing notices of the issuance of such Plans, or of any public hearings related to the development of the Plans, to Boston Public Library sites, Boston Center for Youth and Family sites, the Mayor's Office of Community Engagement, the Mayor's Office of Immigrant Advancement, the Office of Economic Opportunity and Inclusion, the Office of Workforce Development, the Disabilities Commission, the Boston Housing Authority and any of the 40 plus Public Information Officers for City Departments that utilize HUD funds to provide programs and services. It is expected that these partners will send out this information to all of their contacts via emails, newsletter and social media. (Please see the next item.)
- 5. The City will publicize the opportunity for public comment on the draft Plans and Reports utilizing all social media assets available to it, including all MOH platforms such as Instagram, Facebook, and X (formerly known as Twitter.)

PART C - SUBSTANTIAL AMENDMENTS

The City will use the following criteria for determining what changes in the jurisdiction's planned or actual activities constitute a Substantial Amendment to the Consolidated Plan or Action Plan:

- 1. To amend the Citizen's Participation Plan.
- 2. To make a change in the Consolidated Plan allocation priorities from high to low or low to high.
- 3. To carry out an activity, using funds from any program covered by the Consolidated Plan not previously described in an Action Plan or
- 4. To change the purpose, scope, location, or beneficiaries of an activity.
- 5. If the total amount of CDBG (including Section 108, Economic Development Initiative {EDI} or Brownfields EDI), HOME, ESG and HOPWA funds allocated to a

program is increased or decreased by an amount that is more than 10% of the aggregate budget for the program during that program year with the following exemption:

- Changes not Requiring a Substantial Amendment:
- o A budget amendment where the actual dollar amount of the change involved is less than \$100,000 or 10% of the program's funding allocation, whichever is greater, will be considered a non-substantial budget amendment. For such amendments the City will provide notice to HUD and the public but will not provide a 30-day public comment period.
- 6. The application for and use of Section 108 Loan guarantee funds including any potential repayment from future entitlement funds, will follow the same citizen's participation process outlined in this plan. If the City's decision to apply for Section 108 loan guarantee funds occurs after the annual public hearing on community development and housing needs, and the Section 108 funding is not included in the annual action plan approved by HUD, the City will address this decision as a Substantial Amendment to the plan. In this case, the City will follow this Part C substantial amendment process outlined in this document prior to applying for Section 108 funding.

Public notice and comment standards detailed in Part B of this Citizen Participation Plan will be upheld for Substantial Amendments.

The City will consider any comments or views of citizens received in writing, orally, or by email, in preparing the final Substantial Amendment to the Consolidated Plan or Action Plan for submission to HUD. A summary of these comments or views, and a summary of any comments or views not accepted and the City's reasons therefore, shall be attached to the Amendment submitted to HUD.

After the Substantial Amendment is reviewed and approved by HUD, the City will make the document available to the public by posting on the MOH website:

www.boston.gov/departments/housing/grants-management

PART D - CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL PERFORMANCE AND EVALUATION REPORTS (CAPER)

At least 15-days prior to submitting to HUD any CAPER on the Consolidated Plan or Action Plan, the City of Boston will make available to residents, community organizations, policymakers, and other interested parties an opportunity to examine and comment on the draft CAPER.

The City will consider any comments or views of citizens received in writing or orally by the specified deadline in preparing the final CAPER. A summary of these comments or views shall be attached to the CAPER submitted to HUD.

It is anticipated that the draft CAPER will be issued for public comment on or before the 15th of September of each year and the report shall be adopted and submitted to HUD no later than the 30th of September of each year.

The City will make the document available to the public after HUD approves the CAPER by posting on the department's website

www.boston.gov/departments/housing/grants-management

Public notice and comment standards detailed in Part B of this Citizen Participation Plan will be upheld for the CAPER.

PART E - PUBLIC HEARINGS

The City will hold a minimum of two public hearings each year to obtain citizens' views and to respond to proposals and questions during different stages of the development of the Consolidated Plan or Action Plan. Together, these hearings will address housing and community development needs, development of the proposed activities and review of program performance.

- 1. The City will hold a first in-person hearing or hearings for the purpose of obtaining citizen views regarding housing and community development needs and priorities for the coming year and to review program performance for the past year. This will allow the Program to obtain the views of residents on housing and community development needs, including priority non-housing community development needs and affirmatively furthering fair housing, before publication. The hearing will be held at least 60 days prior to issuance of the draft Consolidated Plan and the Action Plan.
- 2. The City will hold a second hearing or hearings for the purpose of accepting citizen views regarding the draft Consolidated Plan, or Action Plan. The hearing will be held during the 30-day comment period on the draft Plans. The draft Plans will be available for review at least ten days before the scheduled hearing.
- 3. The public notice and comment standards outlined in section B of this Citizen Participation Plan will be followed to solicit attendance at public hearings.

4. The hearings will be held on a weekday during day or early evening hours at a convenient and centrally located public space that is accessible for disabled persons and convenient to public transportation such as the main branch of the Boston Public Library or other such locations.

PART F - ACCESS TO RECORDS

The City will provide online access at

<u>www.boston.gov/departments/housing/grants-management</u> to information and records relating to Boston's Consolidated Plan and the use of assistance under programs covered by the Consolidated Plan during the preceding five years.

Requests for printed materials must be made in writing via email to: mohcomments@boston.gov, by call 617-635-0363, or to the Grants Management Unit, Mayor's Office of Housing, 12 Channel Street, Suite 901, Boston, MA, 02210. Where practicable, the City will respond to such requests in writing within 15 working days. Requests for information which is not readily available, or which will require additional research or production of new documents, may take longer. In such cases, the City will respond in writing within 15 days stating whether or not the information is available and the timeline for completing the request.

PART G - TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE

Upon written request, the City will provide access to technical assistance to groups' representative of low-and moderate-income residents that request such assistance in developing proposals for funding assistance under any of the programs covered by the Consolidated Plan. The City may choose to provide such assistance with its own staff, with consultants under contract to the City under any of its housing and community development programs, or refer the group making the request to any of the organizations funded by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development to provide such assistance. The assistance provided will not include the provision of funds to the groups.

PART H - COMPLAINTS

The City adopted the following procedures for handling complaints from citizens related to the Consolidated Plan, Annual Action Plan, Amendments and Performance Reports:

- All such complaints are to be made in writing to the Grants Management Unit, Mayor's Office of Housing, 12 Channel Street, Suite 901, Boston, MA, 02210, or by email: mohcomments@boston.gov
- The Grants Management Unit will coordinate the preparation of a substantive written response to every written citizen complaint within 15 working days of receipt of the complaint, if practicable. The response will include the name of a contact person to facilitate any additional follow-up regarding the complaint.

•

PART I - LANGUAGE AND COMMUNICATIONS ACCESS FOR CITY SERVICES

The City of Boston follows a Communication Access Ordinance to ensure that City services are accessible to all residents regardless of linguistic barriers or physical or visual impairments. The Ordinance established a communication access policy wherein each department defines customized guidelines to ensure all residents have meaningful access to services and opportunities to play a critical role in decision making.

Accessible: The City will meet all the requirements of Section 504 and the Americans with Disabilities Act. All public meetings will be held in handicapped accessible buildings. Written material will be available for persons with hearing disabilities and a staff person will be available to read to anyone who is sight-impaired. If any additional accommodations are needed for persons with disabilities, an advance request of at least seven (7) days prior to the public hearing date is required. The City will seek to accommodate other needs to the best of its ability, upon advance request.

Multilingual: MOH provides assistance for non-English speaking persons in Cantonese, Mandarin and Spanish at the required HUD hearings. Interpreter services in other languages are provided upon advance request of at least seven (7) days prior to the hearing date. The City will seek to accommodate other language interpretation needs to the best of its ability, upon advance request. The current threshold languages for the City of Boston are Spanish (Latin American), Haitian Creole, Mandarin, Vietnamese, Cantonese, Portuguese (Brazilian), Cabo Verdean Creole, Russian, French (European), Arabic (Standard) and Somali. For these 11 languages, the threshold is met with at least 5% of the neighborhood population or 1,000 neighborhood residents who were born in a country in which the given language is spoken.

The Language and Communication Access (LCA) office maintains multilingual resources and demographic data by language. The LCA website:

https://www.boston.gov/departments/language-and-communications-access

MOH consults the LCA guidance available for City agencies to assist them in determining when community notifications and public advertisements for programs and development projects are translated into other languages as appropriate for limited-English proficient residents in the impacted neighborhood. Verbal communication with limited English speakers is managed with MOH bilingual staff and the use of third-party interpretation services provided by contracted services and equipment from the LCA Office, including iPads that provide access to live interpretation services for consumer facing divisions of the Mayor's Office, including the Office of Housing Stability, and the Boston Home Center.

The City will use available Census data and consultations to assess needs for individuals with limited English proficiency to encourage participation, such as the need for translation services and other vital documents.

PART J - MINIMIZING DISPLACEMENT

The City does not have, nor does it anticipate funding any activities that will displace any residents or businesses. If displacement does occur, the residents or businesses displaced would be entitled to compensation and/or assistance under applicable federal laws. Should the need for displacement ever arise, the City will officially notify the residents or businesses expected to be displaced as soon as practicable following approval of the activity. The notice will include a description of the proposed action, a discussion of how they might be affected, and information concerning their rights and benefits.

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

Plan/Report	Frequency	Due Date	Comment Period	Public Hearings	
Consolidated Plan	Every 5 Years	May 15 *	30 Days	2	
Annual Action Plan	Every Year	May 15 *	30 Days	2	
Amendments to Consolidated Plan and Annual Action Plan	As Needed		30 Days		
Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report (CAPER)	Every Year	September 30 *	15 Days		
*Unless otherwise extended by HUD					

ADDENDUM A - PUBLIC COMMENTS

The City would like to thank L. Downie, President and Executive Director of Pine Street Inn for their written comments on the Citizen Participation Plan (CPP) Amendment.

Comment	Response			
HUD Section 108 Loan Guarantee Program				
Pine Street Inn wrote in support of the City's addition of Section 108 Loan Guarantee funding. Specifically, as a resource to create and maintain deeply affordable housing with supportive services to stabilize Boston's most vulnerable residents.	Thank you. The Section 108 Loan Guarantee program is an important public investment tool that affords access to low-cost, long-term financing. The City of Boston, as a Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) grantee, is eligible to leverage our annual grant allocation to apply to the program.			